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The historical sources are nearly all agreed that King
Mang Rai founded Chiang Rai in Culasakkaraja (C.S.) 624, a
year Tao Set.! It is therefore probable that Chiang Rai was
founded sometime between 27 March 1262 A.D. and 28 March
1263 A.D.2

Most sources do not indicate the day and the month, but
according to a work on the history of Phayao (PAY.PP.29), the
foundation day was a day 3, month 2, day 15 of the waxing
moon, i.e. day of the full moon, C.S. 624. That corresponds toa
Tuesday in about October - November 1292 or to a Tuesday two
months later, viz. in about December 1262 - January 1263,
depending on whether "month 2" here means the Lan Na
calendar or the Central Thai calendar.?

According to two chronicles of Phayao (PAY.WSS/ms
and PAY.WSB/ms), Chiang Rai was founded at the hour Tat
Kham, a day 6, day of the full moon, month 5, C.5. 624, which
corresponds to a late Friday afternoon towards the end of Janu-
ary of the beginning of February 1263 A.D.

In 1986, the astrologer Arun Lamphen of the Astrological
Society of Thailand calculated the date mentioned in the two
chronicles in terms of the modern calendar. He concluded that
the details of the date were consistent among themselves and
thataccording to that date Chiang Rai was founded at the aus-
picious time of 17.48 h on Friday, 26 January 1263 A.D,,
Buddhasakkaraja (B.S.) 1805.4

All our sources call the king who founded Chiang Rai,
PhayaMang Rai wiyda1e, and sometimes shorten this toMang
Rai, leaving out the word phaya.

Phaya (in Lan Na usually spelled /braya, brafia waen
wity1/ pronounced phaya) is a title of possibly Mon or Khmer
origin meaning "king.” The same title was also borne by the
kings of Sukhdthai. In later times, however, the title was
devalued in Lan Na as well as in Central Thailand and became
a rank for government officials (phraya, phaya wizen).

Mang is a word which is attested in an area roughly
between the following four points: Southwest Yiinnan - Chiang
Mai - Prome/Pagan - the northern Shan States. In Thai-speak -
ing areas, the word appears as mang %3 (3 in Pali texts, mong
Wy, miiang ¥iaY; in Chinese sources as meng, and in Burmese
sources as min or meng (although spelled /mar/). The oldest
known mention of the word is under the form mang, attested by
a contemporary source for around 860 A.D. in the southwest of
Yiinnan.® Later sources mention the word for an even earlier
time, presumably in the area Prome - Pagan - Tagaung.” Through-

out the time and throughout its area of distribution, mang has
the meaning of "king" or of "kingdom."

We do not know for how long mang was used in the royal
house of the Thai Yuan, to which PhayaMang Rai belonged. But
it seems that soon after 1300 A.D. mang fell into disuse and was
replaced by phaya after a period of transition during which both
words were used. The Chronicle of Chiang Mai mentions only
two mang: Mang Rai and Mang Khram, his son. Both are also
called phaya by the chronicle. But although mang is regularly
used for Phayd Mang Rai and sometimes even exclusively
(dropping the phaya), his son is rarely called Mang Khram;
usually he is called Phayd Khram. All later kings are called
phayd only.

The oldest known stone inscription to mention King
Mang Rai by name is the inscription from Wat Phra Yiin,
Lamphiin, which dates from around 1371 A.D. Here the king is
called Phaya Mang Rai Luang /brafia mariri ray hlvari wag1 &3
T8 ¥ay/.2 Although the inscription was written 55 - 60 years
after his death and therefore is not strictly a contemporary
source, there still must have been a number of older people
living who had known the king, so that his title/name should be
correct. Also, later inscriptions call him PhayaMang Rai,’ Mang
Rai'® or Milang Rai.!" Evidently the king was known as Phaya
Mang Réi to his contemporaries.

The personal name of the king thus was Rai,'? and it
would be correct to call him King Rai. But historians are used to
calling him Phaya Mang Rai or King Mang Rai, although that is
a pleonasm meaning King King Rai. Appellations such as "Pho
Khun Mengrai" Wazlus3Tiel etc. are new creations made up in
modern times and are not found in any of the historical sources.

King Mang Réi was born in 1238 or 1239 and died in 1311
or 1317; he was therefore a young man of 23 - 24 years when he
founded Chiang Rai.’* His mother was a princess of the royal
house of Chiang Rung'* and therefore was a Thai Lii. His father
was the king of Ngén Yang (3ueng, whom he succeeded at the
age of 21, after his father had died.

We do not know where Ngén was. General opinion
appears to identify this country with the area around present
Chiang Sén, or with the triangle Chiang Sén - M4 Jan - M4 Sai,
because some sources of uncertain age and provenance vaguely
speak of a place called Hiranya Nakhon Ngén Yang Chiang Sén
(for instance PAY. PP), but definite proof is lacking. One could
also consider other regions to the north or to the east, for
instance thearea of Chiang Tung, which city claims to have been
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founded by Phaya Mang Rai or initially governed by persons
whom he had appointed,'® or perhaps the area of Chiang Rung,
the home of his mother.

Evidently Phaya Mang Rai was not a native of the regjon
of Chiang Rai. Our sources indicate that he was a newcomer
and depict him as a founder or conqueror and "uniter" of several
minor Thai principalities in an area beyond his own inherited
kingdom. While on one of these "excursions,” he found by
chance the site of the future Chiang Rai, His auspicious ele-
phant 419s@a had broken loose and had wandered away. The
king traced the animal to the peak of a little hill, Dbi Jom Thong
AagaNvay, situated on the bank of the river Ma Kok.

The sources say that when he reached the hill, he became
convinced that the area would make an excellent site for the
chief city of a new kingdom. According to the Chronicle of
Chiang Mai, he considered the precedent that two of his ances-
tors had founded their chief cities and kingdoms at the foot of
hills, and then decided: "I should make the hill the navel of the
country (sadii miiang s¢faiiias), namely the centre of the coun-
try (fa yhnaadies). Thereupon Phaya Mang Rdi built a wiang
() around Dbdi Jom Thong so that the hill was in the middle
of the wiang. Hebuiltitin the year TaoSet, C.S.624. (Thenewly
founded country; HP) was called Miiang Chiang Rai.'*" King
Mang Rai then lived permanently there, making the city of
Chiang Rai his capital.

According to Northern Thai usage, the word wiang, in its
strict sense, means a rampart, wall, palisade or any kind of solid
fence. By application, wiang means a fortified settlement of
importance. If the monarch himself, or one of the higher-
ranking royalties, lived in the wiang, the wiang was called a
chiang 3.  The country as a whole which was subject to a
wiang or a chiang was called a miiang {83, or mong 84 Thus,
the new city founded by King Mang Réi received the name
Chiang Rai, obviously named after its royal founder, and the
country was called Miiang Chiang Rai. Chiang Rai, therefore,
means "(King) Rai's City."

Similarly, when his grandson, Phaya San Phi, founded a
new capital city in 1327, that city received the name Chiang San,
"(King) San (Phu's) City."

A country (miiang, mong) of the northern Thais and its
capital city (wiang or chiang) can be compared to a city-state in
the western sense, or to a not too extended principality, where
the name of the country and the name of the chief city are
identical, such as Athens or Sparta or present day Luxembourg.
In former times, there were quite a number of such little Thai
countries or city-states all over northern Thailand and beyond;
in fact, Lan Na was a conglomerate of city-states, some of them
quite independent at times, but usually accepting the authority
of the powerful city-state Chiang Mai (founded by PhayaMang
Rai more than 30 years later, in 1296)."” A miiang usually
covered the area of a valley; its borders were the surrounding
mountains. Beyond the mountain, in the next valley, would be
another miiang.

There is not much doubt as to the identity of the hill Doi
Jom Thong which was the nucleus of the city-state Chiang Rai,
because in the extreme western part of the present town of
Chiang Rai there is a hill called Doi Thong or Dom Thong. Also,
along the upper part of the western slope of that hill there are
remains of an old earthen wall. An automobile parking lot was
created in 1987 by removing part of it; the rest can still be seen.
Although at present the Ma Kok river flows at a little distance
from this hill, photographs taken from the air or even a glance
down from the hill show that formerly the Ma Kok passed by
the foot of the hill at its northwestern slope; obviously, in the
past the hill was on the bank of the river, and later the river
changed its bed a little to the north.”® Dbi Jom Thong of our
chronicles and present Doi Thong or Doi Jom Thong in the
western part of the town of Chiang Rai should be one and the
same hill.

I must admit that I do not clearly understand what the
chronicle means when it says that King Mang Rai built his wiang
around the hill and made the hill the navel or the middle of his
new country, sadii miang. We know that, in the past, Thai
groups lived on not too high hills bordering a plain with a good
water supply, and that they built earthen walls on and around
the slope of the hills. But the expression sadii miiang, "country
navel, city-state navel, city navel,” has so far, it seems, only been
found in connection with Chiang Rai. At least I do not know
which other Northern Thai city-state had a sadii miiang, a hill
that was the spiritual middle or the navel of the country. Towns
inCentral Thailand have a lak miiang ninidiag, "city pillar,” which
is regarded as the spiritual centre of the fown, and Chiang Mai
has its Sao Intakhin' ien8unslia "Indra’s Pillar,” which is not (or
no longer) regarded as the town’s centre, but the city-state of
Chiang Rai obviously had something different, namely a hill,
not just a pillar.

By the time of Phaya Mang Raj, the Thai groups between
Chiang Rai and Chiang Rung presumably had had contact with
Hinduism, Tantric Buddhism, Mahayana Buddhism and
Hinayana Buddhism, in addition to whatever their own religion
was. It is tempting to speculate that these Thai groups tried to
amalgamate their customary way of living on a hill in or near a
plain with the Indian concept of a central world-mountain, and
thus arrived at their own concept of a country-navel or city-
navel which was a hill situated within or very close to their
capital town. That would make their king a "King of the
Mountain” like the kings of Funan or the Sailendras who,
incidentally, had the same dynastic title, viz. Maharaja, as the
much later kings of Lan Na.

It is perhaps not impossible that King Mang Rai also
erected a pillar on top of Doi Jom Thong because according to
anold northern custom, which was widely observed until about
acentury ago, a settlement of some importance had tohave such
a pillar, made from the trunk of a tree. The pillar was called jai
ban lathu or jai miiang laufies, "heart of the village" or "heart of
of the country.” It usually stood on a separate place within the
settlement. The correct dimensions, as postulated by tradition,
are: Theheight should beequal to the height of the prince ruling
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modernization of the Lan N4 sangha. Thao Maha Phrom is
reported to have obtained in Kamphing Phet and brought to
Chiang Rai the two famous Buddha images Phra Sing and Phra
Kéo (the Emerald Buddha).?* Upon the death of PhayaKii N3,
he vainly tried to seize Chiang Mai. In return, his nephew, the
son of Phaya Kii Na, now Phaya Sin Miiang Ma, went up to
Chiang Rai, captured him, and brought the Phra Sing to Chiang
Mai,? perhaps around 1385 - 1390. The Phra Ko, however, well
hidden under a layer of lime, was not recognized, and stayed on
inChiang Rai until the time of PhayaTilok (Tilok, Tilaka, r. 1441-
1487) when the image was brought first to Lampang and then to
Chiang Mai.?®

Another governor of royal blood was Thao M ¥nayel. In
1484 he made a Buddha image in the cave of the hill Dbi Tham
Phra aaetiwsy (about 5 km upstream from Chiang Rai directly
on the north bank of the Ma Kok), provided eight families of
slaves for its service and a regular income for its upkeep. This
image may or may not be the brick-and-stucco image that one
sees in the cave at present. The inscribed stone slab which
records the event is in the National Museum in Lamphiin.?”

In 1558, with the capture of Chiang Mai, Lan Na came
under Burmese rule, which finally ended in 1804 when Chiang
Sdn, Burma’s last stronghold, fell. During that time, Chiang Rai
is hardly mentioned in the sources, which probably means that
it was politically and militarily of little importance. The Bur-
mese favoured Chiang Sén, at least militarywise. In 1701 - 1705
(the sources are not agreed on the date), the king of Burma
removed Chiang Sén from the administration of Chiang Mai
and placed it with its dependencies as a new province directly
under Angwa (Ava); Chiang Rai also was among these depen-
dencies of Chiang San, at the latest since 1715 - 16.2* Maps of the
19th and of the early 20th century still show Chiang Sén as a
more important place than Chiang Rai.

Chiang Rai twice tried to rise against the Burmese. The
sources do not explain the circumstances for either attempt. In
1600, Chiang Rai revolted. A Burmese military force arrived
and took the town.?? In 1614, the Burmese Fa Suttho led a
military expedition to Lan Na. A result was that all members
of Chiang Rai’s ruling family were deported to Burma and were
replaced by four local "country fathers," phd miiang woifia4.”

During their occupation of Lan N3, because of increased
uprisings and civil war the Burmese had to rely more and more
on Burmese-appointed government officials and on locally
stationed Burmese military garrisons, in addition to military
expeditions sent over from Burma. Judging by their names, the
Burmese military seem to have mostly been ethnic Burmese or
Burmese Mon; perhaps some were Shan with a Burmese name.
Few of the civilian officials, however, although Burma-ap-
pointed, seem to have been ethnic Burmese; mostly they appear
to have been western Shan (Ngio), Khon, perhaps Lii, and local
Thai Yuan. The lower bureaucracy was made up of Yuan
anyhow.

The more important Lan Na city-states had, at least in
theory, a tri-partite government. Nominally at the top was the

Ruling Prince, called phaya or jao fa & h. often, a local person.
He either belonged to an old ruling family or was appointed by
the Burmese. In fact, his authority was limited. Next came the
Burmese Resident, called myowan, who held the real civilian
power. The third was the military commander of the town, sitke
(often called jakkdi etc. in Yuan texts). Many times, however,
there seems to have been either only a myowan or only a sitke.

One of the Burma-appointed officials was Mang Phara
Saphék, Senior Ruling Prince of Chiang Rai and Senior Resident
of Chiang Sén. His name is frequently mentioned in the years
after 1700, and once additional sources have been studied, it
might be possible and worthwhile to attempt the biography of
this remarkable man. He seems to have been an able adminis-
trator, loyal to his (Burmese) king, considerate towards the
peopleand theregion thathad been entrusted to him, pious, and
not without a sense of fun.

Here are a few stations in his life, taken from chronicles:

* Between 1702 - 05, San Luang Thong uswanie alias
Sang Kyb La dwneaar was appointed Ruling Prince of
Miang Rai (Miiang Hai), also called Miiang Rai Cha
dasls, Jaslsm).”

* Between 1704 - 1708 he was appointed Ruling Prince of
Chiang Rai, where he constructed the Pepper Grove
Mansion, Khum P Phrik ¢juihwan.”

* Between 1710 - 12 he did some construction work and
made merit at Wat Phra Kham Jawsvén on the northern
end of the island Don Thén at Chiang San (which island
has now practically disappeared). On one of these occa-
sions he arranged for a kind of verbal contest between
girls paddling boats on the Ma Khong, which was a great
event ngndwiemeSafissuduenthlng).”

* Between 1711 - 14 he was appointed Resident of Chiang
Sin with the name Mang Phara Saphik slswsavatunn.™

* In1715 - 16, by order of the King of Angwa, the city-states
Miiang Kai a.me, M. Rai als, M. Lenaiau, M. Phayak
N.wenn, M. Lio s.uva), Chiang Rai 139718 and M. Luang
Phii Kha 8.4829001 were placed under Chiang Sén, to be
under the authority of the Myowan Mang Phara Saphék,
the Na Sai widhe and the Na Khwa wian.”

* In 1719-20 he built an ubgsot (ordination hall) in the pool
or lake Nong Pathama Riak vuasinume (not identified).3¢

* In 1722 - 23 he put the umbrella on the stiipa Jom Si t19-
1319axéfs (not identified) and again organized a verbal
contest between female boat crews.”

*  In 1724 Jao Fa Lak Thi "Wén#i, the Ruling Prince of
Chiang Sén, died. The jao fi was succeeded by his son,
Jao Yot Ngam Miiang ieaadnudias.”

* Between 1725 - 27 he made more merit at Wat Jom Si, also
called Wat Jom Si Song Miiang JaRaneGaauiias, and
arranged another verbal contest between female crews,
this time on the pool or lake Nong Pathama Rak.3?















20 HANS PENTH

graph which was printed in Neis’ article of 1885.%® That is the
onl” known picture of Chiang Rai’s former city wall (fig. 10).

Neis observed that on the latest maps then available
(1884), the town wassstill called "ruins of Chiang Rai." Therefore,
upon arrival at Chiang Rai (by boat from Luang Phra Bang), he
was surprised to see that in fact in place was a fortified city. Ac-
cording to him, the fortifications were somewhat dilapidated at
certain spots though nonetheless impressive, and had a circum-
ference of more than eight kilometers. But once inside the city,
he found that most of the space was taken up by ruined
monasteries and big gardens. The market was quite well
stocked with merchandise and was visited every morning by
300-500 persons. However, apart from the market, the city had
an air of desolation and solitude.®*

Hallett®® was in Chiang Rai in the same year, 1884. He
had this to say: "(The city) is neatly laid out, and the roads are
straight, ditched, and neatly kept. The gardens of the houses
are palisaded with bamboos, pointed at the top, and have
strong teak entrance-gates, which are closed at night. Water is
led into the town from a neighbouring stream by an aqueduct
entering near the western gate. There are twelve entrances into
the city, eight of which are larger than the others.” But when
McCarthy®® visited Chiang Rai in 1891, the situation seems to
have changed in the meantime because he noted: "... the town
is much neglected, being overgrown with jungle.” In 1887,
Younghusband®” observed that the population was "small for
the size of the place. .. Thereare no shops. ... only a daily market
held at the cross roads in the middle of the town." In 1872,
Vrooman®® estimated that the city had about 300 houses, and
that the population was between 2,000 - 3,000. In 1882, Bock®®
estimated that the male population of the city was about 3,500,
and that the male population of the entire province (then
including Chiang Sdn and Fang) was about 5,500.

Because of frequent raids by bandits, usually operating
from the Shan States, the walls of Chiang Rai were needed
longer than those of other, more southerly towns. The last
overhaul took place in 1899, when a new gate was added, the
name of which is not known, and when a moat inside and
outside the wall was dug. On the same occasion, streets in the
city were laid out.”®

According to oral tradition, which is corroborated by
Hallett’s statement quoted above, Chiang Rai had twelve gates.
But it is not known since when the city had twelve gates, since
medieval times or since its reconstruction in 1844. Notall af the
gates were elaborate constructions. According to Hallett, there
were eight major gates and four minor gates. Probably it is one
of these minor gates that is shown in Neis’ picture, a simple
passageway through the wall, just wide and high enough foran
elephant and its rider to pass through.

T have heard, but not seen written evidence, that the walls
and gates were finally dismantled in the years around 1920 on
the advice of Dr. Briggs, an American missionary physician,
who argued that the area along the wall and the moat was
muddy and generally filthy and therefore a permanent source

of all kinds of illnesses, and that the wall also obstructed the
flow of fresh air.

That piece of information may not be altogether incorrect.
Dr. Briggs worked in Chiang Rai from about 1903 to 1918; in
1910 he founded the Overbrook Hospital.”! Chiang Rai was
surrounded by swamps and former riverbeds of the meander-
ing M4 Kok, and the inner part of the town contained stagnant
water. The latter problem may have been man-made, self-
induced by the construction of city walls (loss of natural drain-
age), and by the uninterrupted feeding of fresh water into the
town as reported by Hallett (Chiang Mai had a similar problem:
its southeast corner was a swamp with an overflow or spillway
into the moat).

A drainage channel about 1.5 km long had already been
excavated in the city in 1865, from the pond Nong Si Jing
yuasBULy (notidentified, but probably in the east) to the Chiang
Mai Gate in the west.”? More drains or moats were dug in 1899,
inside and outside the city.”®> The newspaper The Lao News
reported in 1905: "Dr. Briggs of Chiang Rai has, at the request
of the government, overseen the laying out of Chiang Rai into
streets and the draining of a large part of the city which hereto-
fore has been a malaria swamp and tiger jungle.””* Hosséus,”
who was in Chiang Rai in 1905, writes of swampy, low-lying
areas housing a multitude of snakes, and mentions frequent
cases of mysterious cholera and typhoid illnesses. Le May,’
who visited Chiang Rai in 1914, seems to have found the city
wallin astate of neglectand decay: "The city wallis built of mud,
and one only catches a glimpse of it here and there . . ."

All this shows that Dr. Briggs may indeed have regarded
the city wall as a public health hazard which gave cause for
concern. And many people would have wished to obtain free
bricks from the city wall.

During the period of reconstruction of the city after 1844,
the city received a new city navel, sadii miiang s¢@aiios, in the
form of a stitpa which was built in Wat Klang Wiang Tanan
‘ien. Some people in Chiang Rai still remember that it was not
very solid and that the debris were later removed to make room
for the construction of a school building in the monastery
compound.”’

A Buddha image and a stipa were built on Dbi Jom Tong
in 1864. The stiipa collapsed in the same year and was rebuilt in
1865. It was forcibly opened (and preseumably robbed) in 1899,
but the perpetrator was caught and handed over to the authori-
ties.”®

Between 1985 - 1988, partly with local funds and partly
with funds from the Federal Republic of Germany, plans for the
revival of some items of Chiang Rai’s past were made and
carried out. Thus, twelve commemorative signs at the sites of
the former city gates were erected, a stretch of the old city wall
was rebuilt, and a city navel pillar isazfaiflas was erected on
Doi Jom Thong.””
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CMA.B.1.37; CMA.T.10; CMA.
N.23; JKM.C.87; JKM.].111; etc. A
source that disagrees is CSA.W.
255which has King Mang Raimove
into or found the town on day 4
(Wednesday), day 7 of the waxing
moon, month 5, C.S. 610, a year
Kun, viz. around January - Febru-
ary 1249. Itis immediately appar-
ent that there must be a mistake
because C.S. 610 was a year Wok,
notayear Kun. Noknown inscrip-
tion mentions the date of the
founding of Chiang Rai.

U Ka's table, reproduced in Luce
1969 - 70 Old Burma (2) p. 336 and
supplement. The same date re-
sults from Pras6t’s formula of cal-
culating the beginning of the
Culasakkaraja year in terms of the
Julian calendar. (The Julian calen-
dar was used until and including
1581 A.D. From 1582 on, the Gre-
gorian or modern calendar was
officially in use, which needs a
different formula).

The formula is:

(A.D.x2.07 +603.07) - 8 = A (dis-
regard fractions).

(A.D.-1)+4 =B (disregard frac-
tions).

A - B = number of days from 1
January to the beginning of the
CS. in that particular A.D. year
(Prasot 1971 Wan Sang Krung Si
Ayuthaya 93).

Example for C.S. 624:

C.S. 624 + 638 =1262 A.D.
(1262 x 2.07 + 603.07) +~ 8 = 401.
(1262 - 1) + 4 = 315.

401 - 315 = 86.

C.S. 624 began on day 86 after the
beinning of 1262 A.D., counting 1
January as day 1, viz. on 27 March
1262 (86 minus 31 days for Janu-
ary minus 28 days for February =
27 days in March).
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ENDNOTES

The Lan N3 calendar counts the
months ahead of the Central Thai
calendar by 2 numbers. For in-
stance, month 4in Lan Nais called
month 2 in Central Thailand al-
though both mean the same pe-
riod of time, viz. themonthPhussa.

[tis quite possible that the original
manuscript read "day 6, month 5"
(and not: day 3, month 2), because
a 6 can easily be mistaken for a 3,
and a 5 for a 2. If so, this work
would be in agreement with the
two Phayao chronicles mentioned
in the following.

Letter by Arun Lamphen a3 &1
(i, dated 12 October 1986, toPhra
Udompanyaphon wizgauilygn
nsoh, head monk of the province
of Chiang Réi (unpublished). Letter
by Arun Lamphen, dated 31 Octo-
ber 1986, to Phra Udompanyaphon
(published in: Chiang Rai 1987
Anuson 725 pi 24 - 26).

If the chronicles and the astrolo-
ger's calculationsare not mistaken,
Chiang Rai was 725 years old on
26 January 1988, B.S. 2531, the day
of the inauguration of the newly
rebuilt stretch of city wall. The
city had officially celebrated its
725thanniversary one year before,
on 26 January 1987, B.S. 2530,
because of an erroneous calcula-
tion: B.S. 1805 (year of foundation
+725=B.5.2530. However,dueto
the calendar adjustment of 1940
(which was made to have the B.S.
begin on 1 January instead of on 1
April), the B.S. 2483 began on 1
April 1940 (as in previous years)
and ended after only 9 months on
31 December 1940. On 1 January
1941 began B.S. 2484 which ended
on 31 December 1941. There were
no January, February and March
B.S.2483. UponJan/Feb/MarB.S.
2482 followed one year later Jan/
Feb/Mar 2484. January, February

10.

and March of the modern BS.
therefore are in advance by 1 year
over the old B.S. Thus, when at
present calculating the age of an
object made (or the age of a person
born) during Jan/Feb/Mar in or
before B.S. 2482, one has to sub-
tract one year; but for calculations
intermsof the A.D. year,nochange
is necessary.

Example:

A person born on 25Jan 1937 (B.S.
2479)is 51 years old on 25 Jan 1988
(B.S. 2531): 1988 — 1937 = 5l.
2531-2479=>52; 52-1(themissing
Jan 2483) = 51.

A personborn on 6 May 1937 (B.S.
2480) is 51 years old on 6 May 1988
(B.S. 2531): 1988 — 1937 = 51.
2531-2480 = 51.

Shorto 1971 Dict. Mon Inscrip-
tions 258 s.v. bafid. According to
Shorto, the earliest attested use of
thetitle phayd in Burma isin 1455
in a Mon inscription. In Lan Na,
thetitle is attested for the first time
in the Wat Phra Yiin inscription
(Lamphiin) which dates from
c. 1371 (published i.a. by Gris-
wold / Prasét 1974 Inscr. Wat
Phra Yiin).

Luce 1961 Man Shu Introduction;
1, 43. Fan Ch’o completed his
book Man Shu in ¢c. 863 A.D.

Phayre 1883 History of Burma
276 - 279.

Griswold / Pras6t 1974 Inscr. Wat
Phra Yin.

Inscription of Wat Chiang Man,
Chiang Mai, 1581 A.D. (see:
Griswold / Pras6t 1977 Inscr. Wat
Chiang Man).

Inscription from the PhraSuwanna
Maha Wihan, Phayao, 1411 A.D.



11.

12.

13.

14.

15.

16.

17.

18.

(see: Thom / Prasan 1980 Inscr.
Wat Phra Suwanna Maha Wihan).

Inscription on the main Buddha
image in Wat Chai Phra Kiat,
Chiang Mai, dated 1566 A.D. (see:
Penth 1976 Jariik thi than phra
Phuttha rap, image no. 22).

See the attempts in the Chronicle
of Chiang Mai toexplain theking’s
name, Mang Raj; for instance
CMA.N.21; CMA.B.37 - 38;
CMA.T.9; CMA. HP. 1. 11V; see
also: Prachakit 1907 Phongs. Yonok
132.

I was wrong to assume that mang
was part of the personal name of
the king (Penth 1983 Prawat Lan
Na 57 - 61).

CMA.N.20,74; CMA.T.8;JKM.C/
F.87,91; Thewalok 1963 Jotmaihet
hén 86.

Capital of the Sip Song Pan N3,
Yiinnan, on the west bank of the
M4 Khéng river, about 250 km
northeast of Chiang Rai.

CTU.SM.224 - 227, 234. Capital of
an eastern Shan state of the same
name in northeast Burma, about
150 km north of Chiang Rai.

CMA.B.1.37, CMA.HP.1.12.R;
CMA. T.10. The wording in
CMAHP is: / “.. @3 § n¥h Hes
voy # Wy &1 A v nan Was a9
e W waen 8 e S e e Ny
nel 20N Y89 # & ¥ na e &
1 Y& Wi et anmiel 624 § UTINg
F 1 fe9 Tee MY W ua/.

Phaya Mang Rai founded Chiang
Maion Thursday, 12 April 1296 or
one week later, on Thursday, 19
April1296 (Griswold / Pras6t 1977
Inscr. Wat Chiang Man 114 n. 7).

Large-scale maps or photographs
taken from the air show that the
Mi Kok has changed its bed many
times. The last time the Ma Kok
changed its bed at Chiang Rai was
in 1904 when it cut short abig loop

ON THE HISTORY OF CHIANG RAI

19.

20.

21.

23.

24.

(Hosséus 1912Konig Tschulalong-
korns Reich 181, 190). That may
have been the big loop at Doi Jom
Thong which looks like a more
recently abandoned watercourse.

Sao Intakhin, from sso (Thai)
"pillar" + Indakhila (Pali) "God
Indra’s Pillar.” Chiang Mai’s Sao
Intakhin is rumoured to be of
stone, about 50 cm tall. But no
living person has seen it; it is
embedded in an octagonal brick-
work structure standing in its
own house in Wat Jedi Luang,.

Nii In Sujai wieBuni gla, mem-
ber of the committee for the con-
struction of Chiang Rai's city
navel pillar and city wall (see
below), produced during our
examination of historical sources
the photocopy of a page of a
paper leporello manuscript,
written in Tham Lan Na letters
and in the Yuan dialect, which
contained the above information.
I thought that the figures 5, 7 and
9 were doubtful. The original
manuscript of Nai In’s photo-
copy was not available for in-
spection. But another committee
member, Nai Bunyang Chumsi
witnydls gaefi, confirmed that he
had seen the same figures in
another manuscript.

Old Phrao covers two hills with
earthen walls around their slopes.
At least the southern hill has a
triple wall. The hills are intercon-
nected by additional walls (Penth
1972 Old Phrao).

Théo, in Lan N3, denoted a prince
of the highest rank.

According toJKM. ButCMA says:
r. 1367 - 1388.

Phra Sing or Phra Phuttha Sihing
(Siha]apatima): JKM.C/F.100-102;
JKM.]J.124 - 126. Phra K&o or Phra
Kédo Morakot (Ratanabimba):
JKM.C/R.115; JKM.].145. How
much of the early history of these
images is fiction and how much is

25.

26.

27.

28.

29.

30.

31.

32.
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historical fact, still has to be found
out.

JKM.C/F.103; JKM.J.127.

According to a tradition in Wat
Phra Kéo Don Tao, Lampang, the
Phra Kéo was kept in this monas-
tery between 1436 - 1468. But ac-
cording to JKM, the image was
moved from Chiang Rai during
thetimeof PhayaTi Lok and reached

Chiang Mai, after a stay in
Lampang, in 1481 JKM.C/F.112,
115; JKM.].140, 145).

The full title and name of the prince
were, according to the inscription:
Pho Yua Jao Miiang Thao Miui
Chiang Rai / W wgy¥ 11 Wy vm
38 e T8 /. In the Lamphiin
Museum the inscription is regis-
tered as aw./21. ALI 1.4.1.1 Doi
Tham Phra 2027 / 1484. It was
published by Schmitt 1898 Inscr.
Dbi Tham Phra; (. ..) 1965 Inscr.
Doi ThamPhra;and Thém / Prasan
1974 Inscr. Doi Tham Phra.

CMA.N.178; CMA.T.82; CRA.
PR.29 - 30; CSA. PP. 203 - 204;
CSA.W.282; Prachakit 1907 Phongs.
Yonok 321. See also footnote 42.

CMA.T.81; CMA.N.172; CRA.
PR. 26. Prachakit 1907 Phongs.
Yonok 312. CRA.WPL.19 does not
mention a revolt but says that in
that year Phaya Chiang Ra (sic)
came to Chiang Rai.

CRA.WPL. 6.

CSA.PP.203; CSAW.282; CRA.PR.
30; Prachakit 1907 Phongs. Yonok
321. Should the middle syllable be
read koi nay not kyo ? Milang Rai,
also M. Rai, Meng Hai or Po-hai, is
a town in the Sip Song Pan N3,
c.40 km west of Chiang Rung,
towards Chiang Tung.

CSA.PP.204; CSAW.282; CRA.PR.
30; CRA.WPL.7; Prachakit 1907
Phongs. Yonok 323 - 324.
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33.

34.

35.

36.

37.

38.

39.

40.

4].

42.

43.

45.

46.

47.

48.

49,

50.

CSA PP.204; CSA.W.205; Prachakit
1907 Phongs. Yonok 324. Phra
Racha Wisutthisophon, the trans-
lator of CSA.W, understood this
to mean a girls’ boat race or a
regatta: o wigeriedaudriwiu
amorunlvg (CSA.W.283).

CSA.PP.205; CSA.W.283; CRA.
PR.31 - 32; CRA. WPL.1, 7.

CMA N.179; CMA T .82; Prachakit
1907 Phongs. Ydnok 324 - 325.

CSA.PP.205 - 206; CSA.W.283.
CSA.PP.206; CSA.W.283.
CSA.PP.206; CSA.W.283 - 284.
CSA.PP.206 - 207; CSA.W.284.
CRA.PR.33 - 34.

CSA.PP.207.

CRA.PR.34-35. Although Chiang
Mai, Lamphiin etc. are not in-
cluded in this "whole of Lan N&,"
this confirms that Chiang Sén etc.
were independent of Chiang Mai
etc.

CSA.PP.207 (the text says ua@é

dla9 instead of saadding); CS -
AW.284. See also below the in-
scriptions on the Buddha images.

CRA.PR.33.

CMA.N.181-182; CMA.T.83-84.
CRA.PR.33, 35.

CRA.PR.35; CRA.WPL.1, 7.
CRAWPL.1, 7.

CMA.N.182; CMA.T.84.

ALI 1432 Aram Si Song Mang
B.S. 2269 / 1726 A.D. Published in
Griswold 1954 Buddha Images of
Northern Thailand; Griswold 1957
Dated Buddha Images, no. 101;

Griswold 1960 Five Chieng Sen
Bronzes 199 - 204. The date given

51.

52.

53.

54.

55.

56.

57.

HANS PENTH

in the inscription is: Friday, day 6
of the waxing moon, month 2, C.S.
1088, which according to Roger
Billard, Paris, corresponds to Fri-
day,29 November 1726 {Griswold
1960 Five Chieng Sen Bronzes 202).
Theweightindicated corresponds
to about 350 kg.

ALI1.4.3.2.ChiangRai B.S.2270 /
1727 AD. (?).

Personal communication from the
abbot, whom [ knew well. But he
could notremember the year, only
that it must have been long before
B.S. 2500 = 1957 A.D.

ALI1.4.3.2WatNgamMiiangB.S.
2269 / 1727 AD. (1) and (2);
Griswold 1957 Dated Buddha
Images, no. 100 (only Moggala -
na); Griswold 1960 Five Chieng
Sen Bronzes 11 - 21. The date
given in the inscription is: Tues-
day, day 13 of the waning moon,
month 4, C.5.1088, which accord-
ing to Billard corresponds to Tues-
day, 18 February 1727 (Griswold
1960 Five Chieng Sen Bronzes 15,
20 - 21). The weight indicated
corresponds to about 75 kg.

ALI1.4.3.1. Chiang Rai B.S. 2270 /
1727 A.D.; Cham 1952 Inscr.
Bronze Pasada; Griswold 1960 Five
Chiang Sen Bronzes 101 - 108;
Cham 1965 Inscr. Bronze Pasada.

In Lan N3, the wihan (vihara) is
the main assembly hall of a mon-
astery. It contains the principal
Buddha image wseiszpm and

represents the Buddha's own liv-

ing quarters or Kufi.

ALI1.4.3.1 Chiang Sdn B.S.2269 /
1726 A.D.; Kasem 1966 Model
Vihdra. The date given in the
inscriptionis: Monday, day Méng
Mao, day 7 of the waxing moon,
month 7, C.S. 1088, year Rawai
Sanga, (Ma)mia, which according
toBillard corresponds to Monday,
6 May 1727 (Kasem 1966 Model
Vihara 132).

CRA.P.T.143.

58.

59.

60.

61.

62.

63.

64.

65.

66.

67.

68.

CRA.P.T.144.

CRA.P.T.145. The text says that
this stretch of wall was 350 wa
long.

CRA. P.T.145 - 146.

CRA.P.T.145says that thenew city
was "976 wa long" (viz. from east
to west) "and 356 wa wide" (viz.
fromnorthtosouth). This matches
well with the remains from the
past, such as thelocation of former
city gates, moats, layout of roads,
etc.

CRA.P.T.145 - 146.

Neis 1885 Haut Laos. “Tous les
dessins de ce voyage ont été faits par
M. Eugene Burnand, d'aprés des
photographies ou les croquis et les ii-
dications de I'auteur” (ibid. p. 65).
The names Burnand and Hildi-
brand (the latter perhaps the en-
graver ?) appear at the bottom of
the printed sketch (ibid. p. 69).
This sketch of the city wall with a
gate is reproduced in Sumet 1970
Seen, frontispiece, and in the
monthly magazine Silapa-Watha-
natham &suUimusssn, vol 6.3,
B.S. 2528 (1985) p. 61. I would
like to thank M. Thomas Baude,
director of the Alliance Franqaise,
Chiang Mai, for the trouble he
took to obtain a photocopy of
Neis’s article for me, which was
not so easy.

Neis 1885 Haut Laos 68. The
circumference of the walls of
Chiang Rai must have been about
4.5-5km, not "notless than8 km."

Hallett 1890 Thousand Miles 157.

McCarthy n.d. Journals 55;
McCarthy 1902 Surveying 143.

Younghusband 1888 Eighteen
Hundred Miles 43.

Vrooman, in: Presbyterian Board
1884 Siam and Laos 530.



69.

70.

71.

72.

73.

74.

75.

76.

77.

78.

79.

Bock 1885 Im Reiche 321.

CRA. P.T.150.

Wells 1958 Protestant Work 104.
CRA.P.T.145-146.

CRA.P.T.150.

Wells 1958 Protestant Work 86.

Hosséus 1912 Kénig Tschulalong-
korns Reich 182.

Le May 1986 Asian Arcady 197.

CRA.P.T.146 and personal com-
munication from several persons
in Chiang Rai.

CRA.P.T.145, 150.

The governor of the province of
Chiang Rai, Nai Aram lam-arun
Wien  @uNau. initiated the
project and supervised its im-
plementation together with a
committee of scholars, govern-
ment officials and some private

citizens. Seven persons from

ON THE HISTORY OF CHIANG RAI]

80.

Chiang Mai University partici-
pated in the project: M.L. Bhan-
soon Ladavalya w.a. Wufgsd
aenad (director, Social Research
Institute; project director), Mani
Phayomyong 86l weanewd, Bali
Phuttharaksa 118 wnsinn,
Phithaya Bunnak #ven ipna.
Asdang Porananon Suua 1Un-
auw, Silao Ketphrom e
N¥WIuN, and myself (commit-
tee chairman). For more details,
see: Penth 1988 City Wall and City
Navel 22 - 24.

Although the rebuilt wall is the re-
sult of the best efforts that could be
made under the circumstances, it
is less than a perfect reconstruc-
tion with respect to certain details
of its appearance. Neis's picture,
as printed in 1885, probably has
distorted the dimensions of the
crenelations. Judging from other
northern city walls, the crenela-
tions should have been a little
broaderand perhapsalittle higher.
The space between the individual
crenelations might have been less.
Nonetheless, the crenelations were
rebuilt according to the picture

81.

82.

83.
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because it was the only available
authority. The thickness of the
wall and of the crenelations could
not be accurately calculated from
the picture.

Heine-Geldern 1930 Weltbild and
Bauform. Coedes 1947 Mieux com-
prendre Angkor 86 - 103. Coedes
1964 Etats 170 - 171, 210 - 211.
TBK.C+A.5-7, 233 - 254.

Penth 1975 Buddhapada.

One reason for their presence on
Buddhapadas might be that the
Buddha was regarded as having
mastered the cosmos, as being its
spiritual lord. Details concerning
the 108 signs are found, for in-
stance, in the cosmology Traibhi-
mikatha or in the lists which ac-
company or explain the signs on
Buddha footprints. These lists,
although similar enough, show
quite anumber of variants (Albas-
ter 1871 Wheel of the Law; Bizot
1971 Figuration; Griswold / Prasot
1971 Inscr. Wat Traphang; Penth
1975 Buddhapada; TBK.C+A).
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(...) 1965 Inscr. Doi Tham Phra.
(...) ndnsi ss Ammrsneautmsy 39-
windome” Usegudanaiin (3) ngammWa
2508 VW1 156 - 159.

Alabaster 1871 Wheel of the Law.
Henry Alabaster: The Wheel of theLaw.
London 1871. Photographic reprint,
Westmead 1971.

Barthélemy 1899 Indochine (1894 - 95).
de Barthélemy: En Indochine 1894 -
1895. Cambodge, Cochinchine, Laos,
Siam méridional. Paris 1899.

Barthélemy 1901 Indochine (1896 - 97).
de Barthélemy: En Indochine 1896 -
1897. Tonkin, Haut-Laos, Annam sep-
tentrional. Paris 1901.

Bizot 1971 Figuration.

Frangois Bizot: La figuration des pieds
du Bouddha au Cambodge. Asiatische
Studien / Etudes Asiatiques (25) 1971 p.
407 - 439.

Bock 1885 Im Reiche.
Carl Bock: Im Reiche des weissen Ele-
phanten. Leipzig 1885.

Cham 1952 Inscr. Bronze Pasdda.
1 nawdmsin  “Temeisnumamlane”
faLhng (6.56) 2495 w1 92 - 98.

Cham 1952 Inscr, Bronze Pdsdda.

4 eI wAnNA 77 IInuugIHLYS)
amlave’ Usep@matin (3) nyawmwm 2508
wh 219 - 227.

Chavannes 1900 Inscr. Nan-Tchao.
Edouard Chavannes: Une inscription
du royaume de Nan-Tchao. Journal
Asiatique (série 19, tome 16) 1900, p.
381 - 450.

Chiang Rdi 1987 Anuson 725 pi.
Fmiadueny @efan) ‘oussalmsanlny
Woadvene 725 7 @eeme 2s30.

CMA.B.
The Chronicle of Chiang Mai. Bundles
1-5 transposed into modern Thai by Bali
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Thewaldk 1963 Jotmdaihet hon.
wsumlan  (Wwan  Susla®) “YOAVNILNG
Ins targanaemens (8) aninAairinmh
NFAVWY 2507 W1 86 - 115,

Thdm / Prasdan 1974 Inscr. Doi Tham
Phra.

Win Afw 7 dseens yoiszras ‘A
Aana1dn aw. /217 feesmsdathng (18.3)
2517 ¥h 15 - 17.

ABBREVIATIONS

Thom / Prasdn 1980 Inscr. Wat Phra
Suwanna Mahd Wikadn.

a -] =3
Win e/ desans yoilszaas “Aaeren
TrNATe an/e” feumsfathng (24.2)
2523 Wh 42 - 54.

Wells 1958 Protestant Work.

Kenneth E. Wells: History of Protestant
Work in Thailand, 1828 - 1958. Bangkok
1958.

Wood 1959 History of Siam.
W.A.R.Wood: A History of Siam. Bang-
kok 1924. Reprint, Bangkok 1959.

Younghusband 1888 Eighteen Hundred
Miles.

G.J. Younghusband: Eighteen Hundred
Miles on a Burmese Tat. London 1888.

ALI - Archive of Lan Na Inscriptions, Social Research Institute, Ching Mai University,
BEFEO - Bulletin de ’Ecole Frangaise d’Extréme-Orient.
B.S. - Buddhasakkaraja (w.¢1.).

c. - circa, approximately.

CS. - Culasakkaraja (2.¢1.).

JSS - Journal of the Siam Society.

ms - manuscript.

r. - ruled.

s.v. - sub voce (lemma or heading in a dictionary).
Words between slashes / . .. / are transliterations from original sources.





